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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA
INDIANAPOLIS DIVISION

KAMONA MCDOWELL, )
Plaintiff, ;

VS. % 1:14ev-00479SEB-TAB
INDIANAPOLIS PUBLIC SCHOOLS, ;
Defendant. ;

ORDER ON DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT

This matter comes before us on Defendant Indianapolis Public Sthddsion
for PartialSummary Judgment. [Dkt. No. 27The motion is fully briefed. §eeDkt. Nos.
40, 43.] For the following reasons, we GRANT Defentahtotion as to Counts |, 11, 1V,
V, and VI of Plaintiffs Amended Complaint and REMANID state courPlaintiff's state
law claim for Breach of Contract (Count Il1).

Background and Facts

The facts aréargelyundisputed. $eeDkt. No. 40 at 23 (Plaintiff s Response Brief
wherein her “Statement of Material Facts in Dispute” merely highlights the pertinent
guestions of law at issue).] Kamona McDowell was first hired by Indianapolis Public
Schools (“IPS”) in November 20 as a classroom teacher. [Deposition of Kamona
McDowell (“McDowell Dep.”) at 16 17.] Herrenewable teaching contract was formally

executed in January, despite the school fleamg actually starteduringthe year prior
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[Id. at 19.] Ms. McDowells teaching contract was renewed every \thareafterfor
twelve years. Ifl. at 20.]

In 2002 Ms. McDowell was offered the position éfssistant Principal at School
#99. |d. at 21;see id.at Exs. A and B (Ms. McDowel assistant principal contracts).]
Four years laterMils. McDowell was promoted to Principal of IPSchool #43 in 2006.
[Dkt. No. 292 (PItf. Interrog. Resp. at Nos. 1, 7, 8).] Each year Ms. McDowadl an
administrator sheentered into acontract endingon July 1 ofthe respectiveyear
[McDowell Dep. at 23.]

During her termas Principaat School #43, MsMcDowell was reprimanded by IPS
and counseled on ways improve her performance. [Dkt. No.-2)(PItf. Interrog Resp.
at No. 8(g)).] Specifically, in 2008, IPS reprimanded Ms. McDoveellasking her staff
to support her daughtermission trip to Africa. Ifl.; McDowell Dep. at 51, 7678.] At
some poinduringthat year Ms. McDowell was placed on a “Performance Improvement
Plan”in an effort to improve her “interpersonal relationships” viagnstaff at School #43
[PItf. Interrog. Resp. at 8(gMcDowell Dep. at 556.] The Performance Improvement
Plan endednh 2009. However, on at least three occasionsalB&locumented errors in
Ms. McDowell's accounting method®lating toSchool #43s finances. [PItf. Interrog.
Resp. at 8(g); McDowell Dep. at 55-56.]

Ms. McDowells most recent administrator contract with IPS governed her
employment for the school year beginning J88e2012 and ending before July 1, 2013.
On Decembed2,2012, IPS notified Ms. McDowell that it was considering restewing

her administratocontract. [McDowell Dep. at 25, Ex. F.] By letter datithuary 23,
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2013, IPS informed Ms. McDowell that her contract would not be renewed for the
2013/2014school year. If. at 28, Ex. G.] Ms. McDowell contends that tle¢ter she
received was the same form letter as that is sent out to all adminiséatbrgear [Id. at
28.] According to Ms. McDowell, it was standard practice for IPS to notify administrators
before January 1 if their contracts woulat be renewedf an administrator did not receive
notice of noarenewal, heposition was secure for the upcoming school yeht. a 26.]
Ms. McDowell testified that upon receipt of a notice of terminaadministrators are
given the option to speak to the Superintendent to get a better understanding of the meaning
and purposef the letter. [d. at 29.] Ms. McDowell said she was not concerned when she
received the January 23, 2013 letiecauselitenSuperintendent, Dr. Whitdad indicated
that he had no concexmegarthg her continued employment, particularly in lighthefr
positive evaluations over the pasl@ years. Id. at 31.] Two months after receiving her
non+tenewal notice, consistent with Ms. McDowslkconversations with Dr. WhitéRS
sent Ms. McDowell a letteon March 14, 2013ndicating thatthe IPS Board of School
Commissioners (“School Bodidhad“reinstated” her administrata contracfor the term
runningfrom July 1, 2013 through July 30, 2014 and that she would be notified of her exact
placement as soon as possiblie. &t 23-24, Ex. C.]

Before the 2013/2014 school yemmmenced, howevdR S completed an audit of
the financial records at School #dtatrevealed numerous accounting irregularities, some
of which IPS had previously counseled Ms. McDowellavoid and/or correct. PJtf.
Interrog. Resp. at 8(g); McDowell Dep. at84.] Reversing its renewal decision, on April

29, 2013, IPS suspended Ms. McDowell pending further investigatitdmeaiccounting
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mistakes to determine if those mistakes violatedsiP8licies. [PItf. Interrog. Resp. at
8(g); McDowell Dep. at 74.] Ms. McDowell met with HR Chief Jane Kendrick on two
occasiongdo present evidenaelatingto theallegedaccounting anomalies. [Dkt. No. 40
at 3 (citing PItf. Interrog. Resp. No. 16).]

In July 2013, after the 2012/2013 school year enhtsd,McDowell met withthe
Executive Director of Elementarydkcation Joan Harrell. Ms. Harrell informed Ms.
McDowell that shentended to recommerid the School Boarthat Ms. McDowell not be
retained as Principalf School #43. [McDowell Dep. at 323; Dkt. No. 40 at 3! In
response, Ms. McDowell requested a conference with the Superintendent [McDowell Dep.
at 33], which request was granted.

OnJuly 23,2013, ameeting lasting30- to 40-minutes occurredduring whichMs.
McDowell, her attorney, the acting Superintendent, the Director of Elementary Education,
and others discued Ms. Harell’'s recommendation that Ms. McDowslladministrative
contractbe canceled due to Ms. McDowsllcontinued mismanagement of her builting
extracurricular accountgld. at 3233.] Evidence was presented, concerns vegred and
Ms. McDowell presenéd a defense which includedter alia an assertion thavarious
schoolsecretaries were the ones responsible for the accounting irregularitieat 33

34, 45 see alsoPItf. Interrog. Resp. No. 16 (“I was able to present my evidence and

1 Both parties refeto a July 15, 2018ommunicatiorfrom Ms. Harrell to Ms. McDowell.
Ms. McDowell also testifiedthat she “noted at the bottom [of that letter] that she requested a
conference with the Superintendent3SegDkt. No. 40 at 8.] Neither partysupplied us witha
copy oftheJuly 15, 2013 Ieer.



case.”)] At the conclusion of the meeting, DPegy Hinckley (then Acting
Superintendent}tated that she wouldeicommend to the Boaitthe cancellation of Ms.
McDowell’'s administrator contract. [McDowell Dept 33.] On August 7, 2013in a
special meeting, thi’S School Board'voted to cancel” Ms. McDoweéls administrator
contract and to transfer her to a teaching position (the “adverse employment actahn”). [
at 31, Ex. H.] This decision was confirmed in an August 9, 2013 letter from Dr. Hinckley
to Ms. McDowell. [McDowell Dep. at Ex. H.] Two months later, by letter dated October
7, 2013, Ms. McDowell requested a conference with the School Boardsponseo that
request was received.

Standard of Review

Summary judgment is appropriate when the record shows that thecegsriuine
Issue as to any material fact and that the moving party iseeintt a judgment as a
matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(delotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 322
(1986). Disputes concerning material facts are genuine where the egitesiech tht
areasonable jury could return a verdict for the-nwoving party. Anderson v. Liberty
Lobby, Inc.477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). In deciding whether genuine issuest@fiaha
fact exist, the Court construes all facts in a light most favorable to theoging party
and draws all reasonable inferences in favor of themowving party. Id. at 255.
However, neither the “mere existence of some alleged factual dispute bdtween
parties,” Id., at 247, nor the existence of “some metaphysical doubt hs todterial

facts,” Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Cafp5 U.S. 574, 586 (1986)) will



defeat a motion for summary judgmenilichas v. Health Cost Controls of Ill., Inc.,
209F.3d 687, 692 (7th Cir. 2000).

The moving party “bears the iratiresponsibility of informing the district court
of the basis for its motion, and identifying those portions of [the record] wiHighieves
demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of material @Gatotex477 U.S. at 323.
The party seeking summary judgment on a claim on which thewemg party bears the
burden of proof at trial may discharge its burden by showing an absence of etadence
support the noimoving partys case.ld. at 325;Doe v. R.R. Donnelley & Sons, Co.
42 F.3d 439, 443 (7th Cir. 1994%ummary judgment is not a substitute for a trial on
the merits, nor is it a vehicfer resolving factual disputesValdridge v. Am. Hoechst
Corp.,24 F.3d 918, 920 (7t@ir. 1994). But, if it is clear that a plairftivill be unable
to satisfy the legal requirements necessary to establish his or her casersjutigmaent
Is not only appropriate, but mandatedelotex477 U.S. at 32Ziliak v. AstraZeneca LP,
324 F.3d 518, 520 (7th Cir. 2003). Further, a failor@rove one essential element

“necessarily renders all other facts immaterial.élotex477 U.S. at 323.



Legal Analysis®

A. Count | — Procedural Due Process Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

Plaintiff's first claim is based on a violation of her due process rights. To obtain
relief in an action brought under 42 U.S.C. 8 1983, Plaintiff must show she “was deprived
of a right secured by the Constitution or federal law, by a person acting under color of law.”
Parker v. Franklin County Cmty. Sch. Cqr67 F.3d 910, 925 (7th Cir. 2012). The parties
assume for purposes of this motiongdammary judgmerthat thelPSofficials wereacting

under color of state law. Where, as here, ti983 action is predicated on a denial of

2 Ms. McDowellhas withdrawrseveral of her claims. Specifically, she withdiesv claim
pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 881 (Am. Compl. at Count II) and alker claim pursuant to 42 U.S.C.
§ 2000e for race, gender, and/or religious discriminaithratCount 1V). [Dkt. No. 40 at 224.]
Ms. McDowell states in her response brief that she “hereby withdrawsan@r mlirsuant to 42
U.S.C. 81981 in its own right, but preserves her claim under 42 U.S1088 for Defendant’s
violation of Plaintiff's contractual rights guaranteed by 42 U.S.CO&L.” [Dkt. No. 40 at 23.]
However,Ms. McDowellhasnot allegel a 81983 claim based on a violation 0i.§81 geeAm.
Compl.] andis not permitted to amend her Complaint in response to a motion for summary
judgment. Anderson v. Donaho@99 F.3d 989, 997 (7th Cir. 2012) (“[A] plaintiff may not amend
his complaint through arguments in his brief in opposition to a motion for summary jodgme
(citation and internal quotation marks omitted). As a result, we GRANT I[P®tsoM for
Summary Judgment as to Counts Il and IV of Plaintiffs Amended Complaint.

The preferredpractice, given the voluntary relinquishment of these claims, wwaifdr
Plaintiff's counselto move todismiss Counts Il and IV of the Amended Qaaint before
Defendant filedits summary judgment motion. Plaintiff's counsel is remintleat 28 U.S.C.
81927 imposes “a continuing duty upon attorneys to dismiss claims that are no longer viable.”
Jolly Group, Ltd. v. Medline Indus., Ine&t35 F.3d 717, 720 (7th Cir. 2006); 28 U.S.CA9%7
(“Any attorney. . .who so multiplies the proceedings in any case unreasonably and vexatiously
may be required by the court to satisfy persondlgexcess costs, expenses, and attornegs
reasonably incurgk because of such conduct.”). Section 1927 requires more than counsel's
statementhat Plaintiff “withdraws” certain claims in response to a motion for sumjudgment.
Plaintiff's counsel has an affirmative duty to dismiss those claims prior to thg &f such a
motion, rather than foring Defendant to incur the cost and burden of filing the motion. Plaintiff’s
counsel has failed to satisfy her responsibility to withdraw what are\clesite or nonviable
claims.



procedural due process, plaintiff must prove thatwsagdeprived of a protected interest
by Defendantvithout constitutionally adequate proce&arrows v. Wiley478 F.3d 776,

780 (7th Cir. 2007). A 8983 procedural due process claim contains three essential
elemants: proof of “(1) a cognizable property interest; (2) a deprivation of that property
interest; and (3) a denial of due procedsétian v. Bland630 F.3d 519, 527 (7th Cir. 2010).

1. Cognizable Property Interest and Deprivation of that Interest.

Ms. McDowell claims that she was denikdr due processight to a private
conference with the School Board priorIRBSs termination of kr employment as an
administrator for th&013/2014school year Ms. McDowell argues thaher 2013/2014
administrative employment wascognizable property right apdior to the termination of
that employment, she was entitled to a private conference with the School Board based on
the contract cancelation procedures found in Indiana Code28-2(-2 and -3

To establish that sheasdenied due process, Ms. McDowkitst must demonstrate
that her 2013/2014 administrative employment wagraperty interest of constitutional
magnitude.”In situations vhere the stats’discretion regarding revocatioha right or an
interest isclearly limited, she cannot be denied that propantgrest unlesspecific
conditions are metSee Brown v. City of Michigan City, Ind62 F.3d 720, 729 (7th Cir.
2006) (citation omitted) see Cornelius v. LaCroix838 F.2d 207, 210 (7th Cir. 1988)
(“People have a legitimateagin of entitlement to keep thathich presently securely
belongs to them. Where state law gives people a benefit and creates a system of
nondiscretionary rules governing revocation or renewal of that benefit, the recipients have

a secure and durable property right, a legitimate claim of entitléineftperson’sinterest
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in a benefit, such as continued employment, constitutes “property” for due process
purposes if “there are such rules or mutually explicit understandingsughairs his claim
of entitlement to the benefit.Covell v. Menkis595 F.3d 673, 675 (7th Cir. 201@uoting
Borderv. City of Crystal Laker5 F.3d 270, 273 (7th Cir. 1996)). To be successful on her
§ 1983 claim, Ms. McDowell must provéhat IPS had Imited discretion to denyher
continued administrative employment.

Ms. McDowell’'s 2012/2013 Administrator Contract (which follesundiana Code
8 20-28-6-3's prescribed fopnset forth that the contrantay only be canceled during its
term through he procedures in Indian€ode 820-28-7.52, and-3. Those sections
establishthat upona timelyrequestthe administrator will be provided an initial private
conference with the superintendent and an additional private conference with the governing
body (he School Board). Ms. McDowell argues that IPS’s March 14, 2013 letter
constituted an administrative employment agreement f@2@hd/2014 school year which
incorporated thee statutory rightand limited IPS’s discretion to terminate [2613/2014
adminstrative employment [IPS does not dispute that Indiana’s prescribed
teacher/administrator contract creates a cognizable property fightly that Ms.
McDowell had no such contract for the 2013/2014 school year.

The analysidhereis challenging becaudds. McDowell did not have an Indiana
law-prescribedwritten 2013/2014 administrator contraeind IPS’s communication$o
Ms. McDowell about her 2013/20 B&iministrative employmeméflecta series of fits and

starts agreements, as recounted below:



. 10/3042: IPS and Ms. McDowell entilinto an Administrator Contract for
the school term beginning after June 30, 2012 and ending before July 1, 2013.

. 12/12/12: IPS sent latter to Ms. McDowell notifying her that the School
Board “is considering a decision not to renew [her] contract as administrator
for the next school term.”

. 1/23/13: IPS sent ketter to Ms. McDowellnotifying herthat the School
Board “has determined not to renew [her] contract as an Administrator for
the next school year.”

. 3/14/13: IPS sent detter to Ms. McDowell notifying her that her
“administrator’s contract with the Indianapolis Public Schools was reinstated
by the [School Board] last eveningiith a term of July 1, 2013 through June
30, 2014.

. 8/9/13: IPS sent &tter to Ms. McDavell notifying herthat the School
Board “voted to cancel [her] Administrator’s contract.”

[McDowell Dep. at Exs. C, F, G, H; Dkt. No. 41-4.]

In navigating theseonflicting communicationdPSargueghat Ms. McDowell had
no Administrator Contract as dhugust 2013 when the adverse employmeattion
occurred against hetPS’s contention is based on two factual assertiéinst, when the
adverse employment actioccurredMs. McDowell had no written administrator contract
for 2013/2014 school year and her 2012/2013 Administrator Contract’s term had expired
Second, Ms. McDowell’'s 2012/2013 Administrator Contract m@genevedbecause IPS
gave notice on January 23, 2013 that her Administrator’'s Contract would not be renewed.
[SeeDkt. No. 43 at 4(citing Ind. Code 80-28-8-3)] IPS maintainsthat because it
provided noticeof nonrenewal of her contradb Ms. McDowell in January, no
administrator contract existeghich allowed it to “demote” Ms. McDowell on August 7,
2013 without providing other due processotections. In making this argument, IPS

minimizes the significance of its March 14, 2013 letter informing Ms. McDowell that her
10



administrator contract had been reinstated. [Dkt. No. 28L8t(&lthough “[i]t is true that
IPS also sent a letter to Ms. McDowell in March 2013 which said her contract would be
renewed the following school year..the fact remains that IPS followed the letter of law
with respect to nonrenewal of principal contracts.”).] Similarly, the August 9, 2013 letter
from IPSthat purported to “cancel” her administrator contract has gone unaddressed by
IPS3

Ms. McDowell concludes, albeit without citing any controlling legal authority, that
the March 14, 2013 letter “effectively created a new contract as existed under the previous
administrator contracts.” [Dkt. No. 40 at 20.] In support,rgleeuntder tenryear history
of receiving similar nonrenewal/reinstatement letters followed by nearly identical
administrator contracts that were not executed until well afteapgh&cable school year
started. [Dkt. No. 46 (2012/2013 Administrator Contract executed Oct. 30, 2012)
(2011/2012 Administrator Contract dated Jan. 2012) (2009/2010 Administrator Contract

executed Feb. 16, 2010) (2008/2009 Administrator Contract executed Nov. 21, 2008).]

31n an effort to rebums. McDowell’s claim of a cognizable property interest protected by
due process, IPS relies on a 1984 case from our &warfield v. Adams582 F. Supp. 111 (S.D.
Ind. 1984), which considered another IPS decision not to renew a plaintiff's principalot@md
to reassign her to a teaching position, which action by the school the Court letlgtaatdl14.
Ms. McDowell distinguishedVarfield on the basis that plaintiff in that case was given a hearing
before the entire Board, whereas she was not. This may be true, but there is ampaiéng
distinction between th&Varfield case and Ms. McDowell’s: the plaintiff iWarfield was
reassigned from her administrative position and her contract not renélR@dnischaracterizes
the adverse employmeatction here when it describes the action in terms of reassigning Ms.
McDowell and not renewing her administrator contract. That description Imn out in IPS’s
own communications to Ms. McDowell. Here, IPS “reinstated” Ms. McDowveliministratie
contract in March and then “canceled” that contract in August. Those facts \Wee!d
inapposite here.

11



This pattern, ecording to Ms. McDowellsufficed to creata cognizable property interest
in her administrative employment for the 2013/2014 school year.
We agree On behalf of the School Boardn March, 2013, IPS’s Interim
Superintendent communicated to Ms. McDowell the following:
It is my pleasure to inform you that your administrator’s contract with the
Indianapolis Public Schools was reinstated by the Board of School
Commissioners last evening. The term of your contract will run from July 1,
2013 through June 30, 2014. Your actual administrative assignment for next
year is still under consideration but you will be notified of your exact
placement as soon as possible. | am looking forward to working with you as

we effectively conclude this semester and prepare for a successful launch of
the 2013-2014 school year.

[McDowell Dep. at Ex. C(March 14, 2013 letter).] This lettestating thatMs.
McDowell's administrator contract was “reinstafedoupled with the parties’ history of
agreeing to administrative employment and following mpnths later with a written
contract, unequivocally evidences a mutually explicit understanding between IPS and Ms.
McDowell thatthe terms of Ms. McDowe$ 2012/2013 Administrtar Contract weren

place for the 2013/2014 school year. Moreover, that IPS’s August 9, 2013 letter purported
to “cancel” Ms. McDowell's administrative contract supports a conclusion that the parties
mutually understood that a 2013/2014 administrative contract was in place at the time of
the adverse employment action. This is enough to establish a cognizable property interest
for which Ms. McDowell was entitled to due procgsstections.IPS’s March 14, 2013

letter transformed any “mere unilateral expectation” of 2013/2014 administrative
employment into a legitimate claim of entitlement to the benefitcoftinued

administrative employment.
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2. Denial of DueProcess.

While she possessed due process rights, as we explained above, the undisputed
material facts demonstrate that Ms. McDowell received all the rights and protections to
which she was entitled prior to and in connection with her adverse employment btgion.
McDowell does notcontendthat she received npre-termination conferenaa that the
initial private conferencavith the Superintendent was insufficienather, shéases her
due process claimolely on the fact that she did not “receive her-feninaton hearing
before the School Board in violation of [her PrpadliAdministrator’s] contract.”
[Amended Compl. at 11 6-7.]

The undisputedvidence demonstrates that Ms. McDowell esordegrocedural
due proceswvith regard to the termination of hadministrators contract pursuant to the
terms of he2012/2013Administrator ContracfwhichMs. McDowell contends the March
14, 2013 letter incorporated into heurported2013/2014 contract).The administrator
contract prescribed by the state superintendedbptsthe procedural requirements
contained in Indiana Code2®-28-7.52 and 820-28-7.53. Seelnd. Code §0-28-63
(requiring the state superintendent to prescribe regular teacher’'s contract fidisns).
McDowell contends thapursuant to those provisions of the Indiana Code, she was entitled
to a meeting withthe School Board priaio afinal decision regarding her Administrator
Contract. Section 2028-7.5-2(f) provides:

(f) For items listed in section (1)(e)(3), (1)(e)(4), or (1)(e)(6) of this chapter,

if the teacher files a request with thevganing body for an additional private

conference not later than five (5) days after the initial private conference

with the superintendent, the teacher is entitled to an additional private
conference with the governing body before the governing body mékeas
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decision, which must be in writing, concerning the cancellation of the
teachels contract.

(g) For items listed in section (1)(e)(1), (1)(e)(2), (1)(e)(5), or (1)(e)(7) of
this chapterif, not later than five (5) days after the initial privatenéerence

with the superintendent, the teacher files a request with the governing body
for an additional private conference, the teacher is entitled to an additional
private conference with the governing body before the governing body makes
a final decisionThe final decision must be in writing and must be made not
more than thirty (30) days after the governing body receives the teacher
request for the additional private conference. At the private conference the
governing body shall do the following:

(1) Allow the teacher to present evidence to refute the reason or reasons
for contract cancellation and supporting evidence provided by the school
corporation. Any evidence presented at the private conference must have
been exchanged by the parties at least seven (7) days before the private
conference.

(2) Consider whether a preponderance of the evidence supports the
cancellation of the teacher’s contract.

Ind. Code § 20-28-7.5-2(f) (2011) (emphasis added).

Ms. McDowell allegesthat “[a]fter meeting with th&uperintendenin the initial

private conference[she] made a request within five days for an additional private

conference with the governing body, the Board of CommissiornBig’ No. 40 at 22

(citing “Exhibit 6")], citing her October 7, 2013 letterttee School Board as evidence of

herrequest with the governing body for atditional private conferencgéDkt. No. 41-6.]

This request to the School Boafor an additional private conferen@@laintiff’s Exhibit

6) was mademore than two months after her initial private conferemcth the

4 IndianaCode §20-28-7.52 regulating cancellation ééacher and principal contracts was

amended in 2015Compareind. Code § 20-28-7.5-2 (20L%ith id. (2011).
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Superintendent elearlynot within five daysas Ms. McDowell represents. Exhibis@ites
as follows:

On July 23, 2013, | had a conference with Peggy Hinckley, the Interim
Superintendent, and their attorney. . ..

| received a letter dated August 5, 2013 advising that Peggy Hinckley was
recommending that the Board of School Commissioners vote, in a special
called meeting, which | was not allowed to attend, on August 7, 2013, to
cancel my administratts contract. Subsequently, | received a letter dated
August 9, 2013 that the Board voted to cancel my administrator’s contract.
[1d.]
We fail to grasp Plaintiff'@ssertion thater requestio theSchool Boaradonformed
to the time requirements &id. Code 820-28-7.52(f). She has provided no explanation
of when, where, or how she filed her request to the School Board for an additional private
conference Ms. McDowell referencein her opposition brief communications with

various IPS employeaggardng an opportunityo meet with the IPS School Board, but

points to her October 7, 2013 letter as twelly request fora private conference with the

15



School Board Based on the evidendeefore us, it is clear that Ms. McDowell did not
make atimely request fora conference with th&chool Boardconsistent with the
requirements of the Indiana Cqaehich isthe same provision she now maintains entitled
her to a meeting with the School BoA&rdPS did not deny Ms. McDowell a hearing before
the School Boardbecause Ms. McDowetlever requested one.

The undisputed material facts demonstrate that Ms. McDowell recaiivineé due
procesgo which she was entitled under Ind. Cod20828-7.5-2 she received a private

meeting with the Superintendent during which she was allowed to present evidence and

> Ms. McDowell stated in her Interrogatory responses: “During this,[20143] meeting,
| asked both Joan HarrdExecutive Director of Elementary Educatioajd Edwina SuifHR
Chief]if I [could] meet with the IPS Interim Superintient and the IPS Board, to present my case.
| was told by Joan;No, there will be no meeting. | will make my recommendation to the
Superintendent and she will make a recommendation to the Bodiokt. No. 40 at 34.] Ms.
McDowell also claims that dung her July 23, 2013 hearing with thiterim Superintendent Peggy
Hinckley she asked if she woulbe able to present before the IPS School Board” and was told by
Dr. Hinckley, ‘{n]o, I will make my recommendation to the Board and they will make tla¢ fin
decision.” [d. at 4.] In her October 7, 2013 letter to the IPS School BsdMcDowell claims
that during her July 23, 2013 private conference, she was “advised that a decision would be made
as to whether to recommend cancellation of my administrative contract anshifadifl not have
a right to a conference with the Board because there begt no recommendation to cancel [her]
underlying teachers contract” [Dkt. No. 41-6.] Ms. McDowell was represented by counsel at
this private conference. SkHees notontendhat she relied on these statemeatker detriment
nor does sharguethat her communications to Ms. Harrell, Ms. Suit, or Dr. Hinckéafisfy
Indiana Code 80-28-7.52(f) or (g)s requirements thathe“file[] a request with the governing
body for an additional private conference not later than five (5) days after thé pniviate
conference with the superintendent.”

6 Although Plaintiff has not disputed anythe facts set forth by IPS, she states that “[a]t
an absolute minimum, a material dispute of fact exists with regard to whether Psammttfedural
due process rights were violated by failing to provide her with depn@nation hearing before
the £hool board.” [Dkt. No. 40 at 22 Plaintiff’ sassertion lacks arnggal or factuasupportand
thusis not welttaken. See Lemerdacksorv. Colvin Cause No. 3:1-8v-911- CAN, 2014 WL
4656567N.D. Ind. Sept. 17, 2014).S. vDunkel 927 F.2d 955956(7th Cir. 1991)“A skeletal
‘argumenit really nothing more than an assertion, does not preserve a claim.”)).
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argument with the assistance of her coundé$. McDowells failure to timely request a
meeting with the SchodBoard effectively precluded any further procedural rgyishe
might otherwise have had. To thetent Ms. McDowell had the opportunity pursue her
rights, she was given all sivas due. For the foregoing reasons, we GRANTdR®Stion
for summary judgment on Plaintiff's § 1983 claim.
B. ADEA Claim.

Under the Age Discrimination in Employment ACADEA”), an employer may
not “discriminate against any individual with respect to his compensation, terms,
conditions, or privileges of employment, because of sodlvidual’'s age.” 29 U.S.C.
8 623(a)(1).An employee must be at least 40 years of age to pursue an age discrimination
claim, whichrequiremenis satisfied here. 29 U.S.C681(a). Aplaintiff “can survive
summary judgment under either the direct or indirect method” of prétdishman v.
Cont’l Cas. Co, 698 F.3d 598, 603 (7th Cir. 201Here,Plaintiff seeks to prove an ADEA
violation under the indirect method of prooSeeDkt. No. 40at 2426.]

To makeouta prima faciecase of age discrimination through the indirect method,
Ms. McDowell must demonstrate that (1) she was meeting the legitimate expectations of
her employer; (2) she was subjected to an adverse employment action; and (3) “similarly
situated, substantially younger employees were treated more favorédhlat 609. The
burden shifs back to plaintiff if defendant introduces a “legitimate, nondiscriminatory
reason for” the adverse employment actiddidmar, 772 F.3dat 463. At that point, the
plaintiff must demonstrate that defendanstated reason for the adverse emyplent

action was pretextual.
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1. Plaintiff's Prima Facie Claim of Age Discrimination.

Ms. McDowell's argument in support of her ADEA claiacks an analysis as to
each of the required elememifsan ADEA claim With respect to the first elementhat
she was meeting the legitimate expectations of her empleyds McDowell relies
entirely onher own affidavit, stating[m]y evaluations show that | was meeting my
administrative expectations; scoring in teceeding’level.” [McDowell Aff. at 115.]
Ms. McDowell has nosubmittedany of these evaluationt® the Court nor has she
informed us as to the effective dates of these evaluations. IPS refutes Ms. M¢®owell
selfserving statements by pointing to “many reasons for being dissatisfidd wit
McDowell's performance as a principal” [Dkt. No. 2819, referencing her owadmitted
performance deficiencieas follows:

McDowell herself admits to no fewer than five instances in which she was

either reprimanded by IPS or counseled in ways to improve her performance.

(Plaintiff's Answer to Defendar#t Interrogatory No. 8(g)).In 2008, IPS

reprimanded her for asking her staff to support her daughtession trip to

Africa. (Id.; McDowell' s Deposition, pp. 581, 7678). At some point she

was ato “placed on a'Performance Improvement Plamo improve

interpersonal relationships” with staff at her scho@laintiff's Answer to

Defendants Interrogatory No. 8(g); McDowé#l Deposition, pp. 556).

Finally, there were at least three occasions on which errors in her financial

accounting methods were documented by IP@laintiff's Answer to
Defendants Interrogatory No. 8(g); McDowedl Deposition, pp. 84, 838).

[Id.] IPS does not address Ms. Mall’s specific contention that she was rated as
“exceptional” in IPSs administrator performance evaluations; however, -“saiing
statements in affidavitsithout factual support in the recohrry no weight on summary
judgment.” Butts v. Aurora Health Care, Ini387 F.3d 921, 925 (7th Cir. 2004) (emphasis

in original) (citingBuie v. Quad/Graphics, Inc366 F.3d 496, 504 (7th Cir. 2004)\is.
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McDowell hasnot supportdher claims of exceptional performance reviearsd her self-
serving statement is refuted by her own admissions of performance deficiencies.

Even ifMs. McDowell had succeeded demonstratinghat she was meeting IS
legitimate expectations and even if we assume that Ms. McDswelmination of her
administrativecontract and demotion to teacltenstitutesan adverse employmeadtion,
her claim fails at the third step of the analysis ofgr@na facieage discrimination claim
— whether Similarly situated, substantially younger employees were treated more
favorably” than Ms. McDowell. See Fleishmgn698 F.3d at 60emphasis added)
ThoughMs. McDowell identifiedfive principals andheir respective gendgrsalaries, and
races, each of whonreceived “higler salaries with less experience and some smaller
schools with Assistant Principalsand are Caucasian and/or younger than she was at the
time of the adverse employment actipdcDowell Aff. at §21], she has not providetle
actualages of any of these principdl§See idat 112224 (providing additional exaptes
of accounting incidents where “[yJounger principals or administrators were not disciplined
for such improprieties” but for whom Ms. McDowell failed to provide information as to
their respective agg.] “The Seventh Circuit has defineibstantially youngerto mean
at least ten years youngeC.avanaugh v. Oshkosh Cor@87 F. Supp. 2d 860, 866 (E.D.

Wis. 2011)(citing Kariotis v. Navistar Intl Transp. Corp.131 F.3d 672, 676 n. 1 (7th Cir.

’ Ms. McDowell cites to her “Exhibit 5" as examples of allegedly similarly situated
principals whomPS treated more favorably thahe [SeeMcDowell Aff. at §22-24.] Plaintiff’s
Exhibit 5 issimply a collection ofher ownemployment contracts with IPS and does nediect
differing treatmenticcordedo younger principals. JeeDkt. No. 415.] A carefulreview of the
recorddid not turn up any evidentiary support for Ms. McDowell's statements.
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1997)). Absentany information as tahe ages of theallegedly similarlysituated
employees, Ms. McDowell cannestablish that they wera least ten years her junior
Plaintiff’'s prima faciecase ofige discriminatiothusfails as a matter of lawSee Widmar

772 F.3dat 463 (“A prima facie case, however, must be established and not merely
incanted, .. ..").

Furthermore, ‘® be similarly situated for comparison purposes, the other employee
must be‘similarly situated with respect to performance, qualifications, and cotduct.
Cavanaugh 787 F. Supp. 2d at 866Ms. McDowell provides none of these details
regardingany of the administratot® whom she compares herselir has she included
any evidence or argument respecting their conduct, qualifications, or perfornj&eee.
Dkt. No. 40 at 26; McDowell Aff.] Ms. McDoweklversthat “[a]nother principal, at the
Julian Cullen Academy, had a problem with receipts not always being issued or recorded.
This was a younger black female, and there was no reprimand or terminakitmbell
Aff. at 123.] Ms. McDowellinvokes “Designation and Submission of Evidence in
Opposition to Defendant’'s Motion for Summary Judgment at ‘Exhibit 5 in an attempt to
substantiate these statements; however, asl mveviouslyin footnote 6to this order,
Exhibit 5 issimply a collection of Ms. McDowels contracts with IPShot evidence of
age-based disparate treatment.

The cases cited by Plaintiff in her Opposition Brief do littiddster herclaim of
discrimination Reeves v. SandersBiumhing Products, InG.530 U.S. 133 (2000) was a
case tried to a jury in which a manager told the plaintiff he “was so old [he] must have

come over on the Mayflower” and that he “was too damn old to do [his] jobdt 151.
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No similar evidence has beadducedhere. Confusingly, Plaintiff cites tdorwitz v.
Board of Education of AVOCA School District No, 360 F.3d 602 (7th Ci2001), which
provides her claims absolutely no suppomlaintiff herself describes ¢hholding to
foreclose reliebecauselaintiff “had nda demonstrated that younger teachers were treated
more favorably than sheg¢ausinghe plaintiff s prima facie case of age discrimination to
fail as a matter of lawld. at 61112. O’Regan v. Arbitration Forums, In246 F.3d 975
(7th Cir. 2001), which Plaintiff also citesupports IPS arguments, ndters There the
court held that plaintifs refusal to sign an employment agreement was insufficient
evidence to establish a pretext for discriminatitth.at 984. Russell v. Board of Trustees
of University of lllinois at Chicaga243 F.3d 336 (7th Cir. 2001) has no application,here
since the Seventh Circuit decision included no discussion of the ADEA claBae
generally id, 341 None of the cases Plaintiff cites are persuasi@eer mind controlling
here. None supports a finding that Ms. McDowell has succeeded in estabdigning
facie caseof discrimination against her by IPS on the basis of her age.

2. IPS’'s Legitimate NonDiscriminatory Reason for the Adverse
Employment Action.

Although we have concludetiat Ms. McDowellhasfailed to establiska prima
faciecaseof age discrimination, even if she hage hold that IPS has provided a legitimate
non-discriminatory reasdior the adverse employment actiagainst her. Ms. McDowell
had to bereprimanded on numerous occasions for several differeasons — her
relationships with staff, seeking personal financial support for her daughter from her staff,

and accounting errors. These legitimate and-disariminatory reasons (poor job
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performance) for the adverse employment action shift the burden to Ms. McDowell to
prove that IPS$ claims of poor job performanosere a pretext for itsage-based
discrimination.

3. Plaintiff’ s Failure to Show that IPSs Justification Was a Pretext for
Discrimination.

Ms. McDowell has not succeeded in her attempt to show thas IR&son for
terminating headminigrative contract was a pretext fdiscriminatory termination In
fact, Ms. McDowellhas not addresslthis issue at all in her response brief. To prevail on
a claim of pretext, Ms. McDowell must provide “evidence showing that the proffered
reasons had no basis in fact, were insufficient to motivate discharge, or did not actually
motivate h[er] discharge.” Widmar, 772 F.3d at 465R(aintiff “must identify such
weaknesses, implausibilities, inconsistencies, or contradictions in the defendant
proffered reasons that a reasonable person could find them unworthy of credence and hence
infer that the defendant did not act for the asserteddismmiminatory reasons.”)Ms.
McDowell actuallyadmitted to many of the accounting errors and reprimands she received
from IPS. She provides no evidentat castgloubt on the honesty of IBRSmotives for
the adverse employment action. rAbst,Ms. McDowell relies on her own speculation
that her demotion was a pretext for age discrimination which cannot assist her in avoiding
summary judgmentid.

For the foregoing reasspwe GRANT IPSs motion for summary judgment as to
Plaintiff's ADEA claim.

C. Retaliation.

22



Title VII makes it unlawful for an employer to retaliate against an employee who
opposes unlawful discrimination. 42 U.S.C2@D0e3(a). In order to survive summary
judgment on her retaliation claimls. McDowellmust present evidence sufficient to raise
a reasonable inference that: (1) she engaged in statutorily protected conduct; (2) she
suffered an adverse employment action; and (3) there is a causal relationship between the
protected expression and the adverse actReed v. Hunt CorpNo. IP011005-C-B/F,

2003 WL 1522943, at *5 (S.D. Ind. Mar. 20, 200@jiting Maarouf v. Walker
Manufacturing Co0.210 F.3d 750, 755 (7th Ci2000);Alexander v. Gerhardt Enterp. Inc.,
40 F.3d 187, 195 (7th Cir.1994)).

The facts relang to Ms. McDowell's retaliation claim are straightforwardvs.
McDowell claims

In early 2013, | complained to two of my supervisors, Paul Mikus and Joan

Harrell about the discrepancy in my salary as compared to similarly situated

caucasian [sic] and/or younger administrators. This occurred in two separate

meetings. Joan was visibly irritated about this and | definitely noticed a

change in her behavior toward me once | complained about the salary

discrepancy. Paul basically shut down in future interactions with me. |

believe my complaints led to my termination from the
Principal/Administrator position.

[McDowell Aff. at §20.] We assumeas doesIPS for the purposes of its summary
judgment motion, that Ms. McDowetlan satisfy the first two elements opama facie
case of retaliatior that Ms. McDowells complaints to her supervisors in “early 208"

a discrepancypetweenher salary as compared to “similarly situated Caucasian and/or
younge administrators” [McDowell Aff. at §0] constitutesa statutorily protected

activity; andthat Ms.McDowell suffered an adverse employment actib®S’s summary
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judgment motiorfocuses on the third elementhat a causal relationship exists between
Ms. McDowell’s protected expression and the adverse employment action. We limit our
discussion, therefore, to that argument.
The Seventh Circuit has set forth two ways for plaintifestablisha prima facie
case for unlawful retaliation to avoid summary judgment.
The first way “is to present direct evidence (evidence that establishes without
resort to inference from circumstantial evidence) that [plaintiff] engaged in
protected activity (filing a charge of discrimination) awda resulisuffered
the adverse employment action of which he complaidsThe second way
requires that a plaintiff establish that, after filing a charge, the plaintiff was
subjected to an adverse employment acteen though he was performing
his job satisfactorily and no similarly situated employee who did not file a
charge was subjected to the adverse employment atdidéven where the
plaintiff establishes all of the required elements to make out a prima facie
case, if the employer presents unrebutted evidence of-evidious reason
for the employment action at issue, the employer is entitled to summary

judgment unless there is a material issue of fact as to whether the ensployer
non-invidious reason is pretext for retaliatidch.

Hudson v. Chicago Transit Aufi875 F.3d 552, 5580 (7th Cir. 2004)citing Stone v.
City of Indianapolis Pub. Util. Diy.281 F.3d 640, 644 (7th Cir. 2002)) (emphasis added).
The legal framework for a retaliation claim shares many oddnge elements as an ADEA
claim, which gives rise to obvious similarities in our analysis of these claims.

Ms. McDowell has not presented direct eviderioeprove that the adverse
employnent action she experienced was the result of her protected expreSsitiner,
Ms. McDowell hasnot show that her protected activity was tHeut-for” cause of the
adverse employment action or that a causal relationshipeeéxistween the protected
expression and the adverse acti&ee Chaib Mndiang 744 F.3d 974, 987 (7th Cir. 2014)
(holding that bufor causation “requires proof that the unlawful retaliation would not have
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occurred in the absence of the alleged wrongful action or actions of the employer.”). As a
result, we infer that Ms. McDowell seeks to prdn retaliatiorclaim through the indect
method to wit, thatafter expressing her concern of discrimination, she sufferextitrerse
employment actioreven thouglshe was performingdrjob satisfactorily and no similarly
situated employee who did not file a charge was subjected to the adverse employment
action. Ms. McDowell’s effort to make this showing falls well short of what is required.

As with herfailure to show that she was performing her job satisfactorily in terms
of her ADEA claim, Ms. McDowell hafiled to establish that she was performing her job
in a satisfactory mannep as to prove her retaliation claim. Likewise, Ms. McDowa4
set forth no facts to demonstrate that similarly situated employees who did not make similar
claims of discrimination were not subjected to termination and/or demotion. Irafeed,
previously notedMs. McDowell didnot address these elements in her lni@iny fashion

Evenif Ms. McDowell hadsucceedeth herprima facieshowingof retaliation, IPS
has presented unrebutted evidence of ainaidious reason for thadverse employment
action at issue ramely,Ms. McDowell’'s poor performance history — and Ms. McDowell
has not set fortlany factsto suggest that IPStson4nvidious reason isctually apretext
for retaliation Ms. McDowells retaliation argument consists largely of hecitation of
caselaw without linking those precedents to the facts of her &sehas been unable to
create any genuine issues of material fact sufficient to defeat summary juddmokeetd,
Ms. McDowells anly fact-specific argument in support of hegtaliation claim was as

follows:
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As shown by the affidavit of Kamona McDowell, she complained to her
supervisor that she was being underpaid in comparison to others because of
her race and sex [not mentioning age at all]. She noticed a distinct change in
behavior immediately thereafter, ultimately leading to the termination of her
Principal/Administrator contract. Accordingly, Plaintiff believes that a
disputed material fact exists with regard to whether theitetion decision

was in retaliation for Kamonsa prior protest, and summary judgment should
therefore be denied with regard to her retaliation claim on this ground.

[Dkt. No. 40 a28-29.] Ms. McDowells inconsistentindeedpare bones assertions do not
suffice to avoid summary judgment. Not only hslsefailed to set forth grima facie
retaliation claim, shéasalso failed to establish a causalAbort relationship between her
early 2013 communications with her superiors and her adverse employment action and has
not demonstrated that IPS’s reason for her termination was a pretext for retaliation.

For the foregoing reasons, we GRANT 1B ®otion for summary judgment as to
Plaintiff's claim of retaliation.

E. Pendent State Law Claim.

Plaintiff's statelaw breach of contract clai@t this point is the single, remaining
claimin her litigation. Title 28 U.S.C. §367(c)(3) provides: “The district courts may
decline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over a claim under subsectior (a) (3)
the district court has dismissed all claims over which it has original jurisdiction[.]” The
Seventh Circuit has held that “[w]hen all federal claims in a suit in federal court are
dismissed before trial, the presumption is that the court will relinquish federal jurisdiction
over any supplemental stdtev claims.” Al's Serv. Ctr. v. BP Prods. N. Am., In699
F.3d 720, 727 (7th Cir. 2010). The presumption is rebuttable, “but it should not be lightly

abandoned, as it is based on a legitimate and substantial concern with minimizing federal
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intrusion into areas of purely state lawRWJ Mgmt. Co. v. BP Prods. N. Am., Jr&Z/2
F.3d 476, 479 (7th Cir. 2012) (citirighan,93 F.3dat 1366);see also Huffman v. Hains,
865 F.2d 920, 923 (7th Cit989) (“[R]espect for the staginterest in applying its own
law, along with the state colstgreater expertise in applying state law, become paramount
concerns.”).

The parties did not address the meritssf McDowell' s state law claim for breach
of contract in theisummary judgment briefing. We acknowledge that the State of Indiana
has a strong and obvious interest in applying its own law and adjudicating cases involving
state law Ms. McDowell originally filed this cause of actiomthe Marion Superior Court
anddid not object tdPS’s motionthat wedeclineto exercise pendent jurisdiction over her
state law breach of contract claim in the event her federal clamassmissed. We grant
IPS’s request and REMAND to state court Plaintiff's breach of contlaich.

Conclusion

For all the reasonexplicatedabove, we GRANT summary judgment in favor of
Defendant IP®n Plaintiff Kamona McDowells claims under Count I, Il, IV, V, and VII
of her Amended Complaint. We REMAND Plaintsfbreach of contract claim brought in
Count Il of her Amended Complaitt the Marion Superior CourtFinal judgment shall

enter accordingly.

Date:  11/12/2015 ﬂAaL@ws'ﬁm\n(

SARAH EVANS BARK\ER, JUDGE
United States District Court
Southern District of Indiana
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